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�P R O C E E D I N G S

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Everyone is here, so if we are ready, it is the appointed hour.  I will call this hearing to order.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Thank you for being here.

	On November 21, 2002, the Federal Housing Finance Board invited the Federal Home Loan Banks to testify at a public hearing on the topic of Federal Home Loan Bank views concerning registration of Federal Home Loan Bank stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  

	This hearing is a continuation of discussions between the Federal Home Loan Bank System and the Federal Housing Finance Board begun in August to identify questions and issues that would arise from applying to the Bank System the Securities and Exchange Commission's disclosure standards under the Securities Act of 1933 and its stock registration and disclosure requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

	This hearing comes in response to requests from representatives of the Banks to have an opportunity to speak directly to the three entities concerned with government-sponsored enterprise disclosure--the Finance Board, the SEC, and the United States Treasury Department--about the Bank System's suggestions for a practical means of fulfilling its commitment to become a role model for corporate transparency and accountability.  While today's session is a Finance Board hearing, all three agencies are present and listening today.

	To focus these discussions, and in the interest of time, we are limiting oral testimony today to representatives of the Banks.  That having been said, we certainly welcome submitted testimony from all interested parties, and I understand we have received some, including a communication from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston, the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines, the Federal Home Loan Bank of Topeka, joint testimony from America's Community Bankers, the American Bankers Association, and the Independent Community Bankers of America.  And I should mention also I have been informed that there is testimony on its way from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh.  We have not received it, but we will certainly, if there is no objection, one, include--oh, here it is.  Oh, and excuse me.  The Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta has also submitted testimony.

	If there is no objection, we will include all of these communications in the record of today's proceedings.

	Before we open the floor for testimony and before I make a couple of introductory remarks, do any of my colleagues on the Finance Board have any statement they would like to make in anticipation of the hearing today?  Director Leichter?

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I hope that the hearing will focus on what I really see as two disparate issues.  They're connected but they're different.

	One is disclosure.  What is the appropriate level of disclosure for the Federal Home Loan Bank System?

	The second one is:  With whom should that disclosure be made?  And that raises the issue of SEC registration.

	I find sometimes there's a tendency on the part of some to say "disclosure" when they're really talking about SEC registration.  It seems to me that they're separate issues, and I hope in the testimony today that we will be able to deal with both of these issues:  What is the proper level of disclosure, and who should the disclosure be with?

	Thank you.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Director Leichter.

	Any other Directors have any opening statement to make?

	[No response.]

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Seeing none, as I mentioned, before we open the floor for testimony let me just briefly provide some historical and I think philosophical context for the Finance Board's initiative to make the Federal Home Loan Bank System a role model for disclosure and also for today's hearing.  And I think Franz has already opened the door, and I think appropriately.

	My colleagues and I on the Federal Housing Finance Board, of course, take seriously our roles as stewards of the taxpaying public.  The Finance Board can best fulfill its role of ensuring the safety and soundness of the Federal Home Loan Bank System, not only through strengthening the supervision process -- which we have made a priority -- but also by improving corporate governance and all it entails, including strengthening the Banks' boards of directors and mandating enhanced transparency and accountability.

	Since becoming Chairman of the Finance Board nearly a year ago, I have consistently advocated open processes for and enhanced public disclosure by the Bank System.  Clearly, in the wake of recent high-profile corporate scandals, improved disclosure has been a point of public debate at many levels, resulting this past year in several pieces of legislation being introduced into and several passed by the U.S. Congress.

	In July of this year, the Administration called on all government-sponsored enterprises to voluntarily register their stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac agreed to such disclosure soon after.

	At the time of that proposal, the U.S. Department of Treasury and the White House were generally aware of the impact their proposal would have on Federal Home Loan Banks and, in fact, had discussed enhanced GSE disclosure with me in the months and weeks prior to the Fannie and Freddie announcement.

	In anticipation of structuring a workable disclosure regime for the Bank System, a working group of Bank and Finance Board staff was organized last summer.  In August, September, and October, the working group, along with three law firms and a major accounting firm representing the System, devoted day-long meetings to identifying and exploring technical questions related to providing enhanced system disclosure.  

	No less than six hours of this process has been devoted exclusively to listening to the System's reasoned arguments in opposition to the concept of requiring filings with the SEC.  I personally have met twice with the Bank presidents to hear the case for a custom-built disclosure regime.

	During the working group process, it became clear that the System supports state-of-the-art disclosures for bonds and other products sold by Banks.  I believe, in fact, the testimony this afternoon will make just such a proposal, which will mesh well with my intention that we move ahead with the proposed regulation to cover just these areas, with disclosures required by the Securities Act of 1933, filed with and reviewed by the Finance Board, at the Board's meeting this month, assuming the necessary staff preparation can be completed.

	After today's hearing, our staff will go back to work with the SEC staff and continue discussing and resolving problems regarding '34 Act registration of Federal Home Loan Bank stock.  At some point, the SEC and the Finance Board will be in a position to determine the roles both agencies feel to be appropriate.  At the end of the day, the SEC and the Finance Board will have to carefully consider whether the SEC can or cannot accept disclosure jurisdiction over the System without treading on the exclusive safety and soundness jurisdiction of the Finance Board.  Then and only then will the Finance Board be ready to consider any proposed regulation dealing with '34 Act matters.

	Clearly, our movement toward enhanced disclosure for the Federal Home Loan Bank System has been conducted in a reasoned, measured manner.  I believe it would be difficult to seriously suggest that this process has been rushed or undertaken without adequate consultation with the management of the Banks.  

	In fact, the past four months and the next month or two are simply preludes to the official public review and comment periods for any disclosure regulations and for the public debate to be held by the Finance Board.

	As described, we initiated a process that ensure Banks the opportunity to make known their concerns and to have them heard before determine policy specifics to be considered by the Finance Board -- and, more importantly, before our staff engaged in substantive talks with the SEC.  

	This process, I believe, has served all parties well.  It was designed to be transparent and open, it has been transparent and open, and it will continue to be transparent and open.

	That having been said, I must add that we are still a long way away from knowing precisely what any regulation will require.  Yet in reading through the prepared testimony, I see predictions – already -- of regulatory failure.  I see implications that the Finance Board has not benefited from the knowledge gained in the working group, and will not strive to maintain its safety and soundness prerogatives.  

	Neither is the case, I assure you.  Under no circumstances, let me say that again, under no circumstances will the Finance Board surrender its regulatory oversight of Bank System safety and soundness.

	Predictions of failure -- worst-case scenarios, really -- are predicated on any number of what I consider to be relatively implausible potential developments: That our staff rejects or misunderstands all it has heard from the Banks over the past four months; that we failed to convince the SEC that these cooperatives present unique questions; that the SEC refuses to honor choices made by Congress and this agency in establishing and regulating the System; and that the SEC will push aside 70 years of safety and soundness jurisdiction established by this regulator and assert power over the Banks, power that it has never claimed over any other federally-regulated financial enterprise filing under the '33 or '34 Acts.

	While I appreciate the concerns, I have to say I consider them at this point unwarranted by the facts.  

	Let me reiterate the very reason this Board is pursuing enhanced disclosure because I don't want this point to be overlooked today.  The underlying, the fundamental reason for enhanced disclosure is to fully maintain, to protect a government-sponsored enterprise's obligation to the taxpayers of this nation, to the public.

	Since becoming Chairman and especially since beginning a dialogue on enhanced disclosure with the Banks, I've taken pains to make it known to all that this Board exists to serve the interests of the public in the safe, sound and effective operation of the Federal Home Loan Banks.  I certainly understand the interests of the System's specific stakeholders in these questions.

	But, we must not, we will not, ignore the investment made by the taxpayers in the Federal Home Loan Bank System, the liability the taxpayers face from the implied guarantee and the advantages and value bestowed on the Banks and their owners by the public.  

	That -- as I have stated repeatedly, clearly and consistently -- is why I seek superior disclosures of finances and governance by these GSEs.  I am not convinced by the argument that only institutional bond buyers and sophisticated bankers need to understand the Federal Home Loan Banks.  

	Those who lend to the System and borrow from the Banks have a choice.  The taxpayers, however, have no choice and no voice in the risks taken by the Banks, despite the fact they may some day be presented with the bill if the worst were ever to come to pass.  No voice, that is, except the voice given them by this and other agencies, including the SEC and the Treasury, empowered to watch out for their best interest.

	And as Chairman of the Federal Housing Finance Board, I can assure you I have no intention, and I assume my colleagues agree, of ever testing whether the members' capital and collateral are sufficient to repay the System's obligations.  

	So we seek to enlist the light-of-day as an ally of the public in ensuring the safety and soundness of the Bank System.

	As of today all the System's peers and competitors are under SEC jurisdiction for disclosure purposes and under the jurisdiction of other federal regulators for safety and soundness purposes.  I'm speaking, of course, of both housing GSEs -- Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac -- as well as financial services holding companies.  

	Of course the Federal Home Loan Banks have certain unique characteristics, to be sure.  They are clearly different creatures from Fannie and Freddie.  These characteristics are not all foreign to the SEC, however; for example, other cooperatives file with the SEC.  In addition, many public companies have credit guarantees outstanding to joint venture partners, suppliers, customers or affiliates, so joint and several liability is a familiar concept to the SEC, as well.  

	But the critical common characteristic shared by each of the housing GSEs is that each is a public trust and each owes the public superior disclosures.  

	Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks raise equity in different ways.  But all three incur debt, many hundreds of billions of dollars of debt -- in precisely the same way: by relying on the public endowment of GSE status and the public's implied guaranty.  This fact, alone, makes a powerful case for disclosing the common risk to the taxpayers posed by the housing GSEs in a uniform way.

	And that's why we're here today, not to hear all the reason why any enhanced disclosure regime for the Federal Home Loan Bank System is doomed to failure, but to discuss how all of us, working together in a deliberate, informed and careful manner, can craft and enhance disclosure regime for the Federal Home Loan Bank System that will work.

	With that it's my pleasure to welcome the three testifiers who are here today to appear.  I think by virtue of the fact that Richard Swanson is Vice Chair of the Board of Directors at the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle, we'll give him first option.

	Dick, if you would care to go first, we're open to your testimony.

	MR. SWANSON:  Thank you very much, Chairman Korsmo.

	I'm Dick Swanson, Chairman of HomeStreet Bank, a Seattle, Washington-based savings bank with approximately $1.6 billion in total assets.  Our bank is a member and therefore a stockholder in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle.  In addition, I'm an elected director of the Federal Home Loan Bank's Board of Directors and I currently serve as its vice chairman.  I deeply appreciate the opportunity to participate in this hearing.

	I was an attorney in private practice prior to joining HomeStreet Bank some 16 years ago, and in that capacity, I provided counsel on financial disclosures to public and private entities, on both the issuer and the investor sides.  More recently, I have chaired the Washington Tobacco Settlement Authority, which in November issued $500 million in tobacco bonds with about the most complex disclosure statement that I have ever read.  My experience by no means makes me an expert in this area, but it has given me a breadth of understanding about financial disclosures and the critical discipline that they provide in the marketplace.

	I offer my remarks today on behalf of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle and our board, not its management, and I represent the 374 members that together own the Seattle Bank.  I speak as a member and shareholder with more than $33 million, over one fourth of our total shareholders equity, in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and with $584 million in advances outstanding.  HomeStreet Bank is primarily a housing lender, and the advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle fund about 40 percent of our bank's assets.  As you can see, our Home Loan Bank membership is critically important to our bank's strategies and performance every day.  As a result, issues that affect the Federal Home Loan Banks are critically important to us as well.  And I'm interested in seeing the issue of financial disclosure discussed and handled thoughtfully, in a manner that effectively and efficiently serves the interests of stockholders, investors and the public.

	I'll add that in a 7,000 plus member System as diverse as the Federal Home Loan Bank System, it would be presumptuous of me to say that my remarks represent all of the membership.  However, I believe that my views do reflect widely-held sentiments among many members who are aware of this issue, and certainly of their trade associations, who, along with you, Chairman Korsmo, support full and timely financial disclosure to underscore the importance of corporate accountability.

	In the written joint statement submitted by America's Community Bankers, the American Bankers Association and the Independent Community Bankers of America, which you referred to earlier, the trade association stated, and I quote, "The members of the Federal Home Loan Bank System strongly support full, accurate, transparent and enhanced securities disclosures that are appropriate for the unique cooperative structure of the System and carried out through the Finance Board in consultation with the SEC."

	I understand this is one of the first times in the history of our financial industry that these three trade associations have so quickly agreed on a common position, and in fact I understand that the three of them have asked that one person speak on their behalf at this hearing today.  I am not here in that capacity, as this was restricted just to members of the System and Presidents of the Federal Home Loan Banks.

	But I do tell you that among those members that I have spoken with and their trade associations, I feel that the concern about the issues of securities disclosure runs very deep among those who have some awareness of it, and I think that in time you'll hear much more from other members on this issue.

	Now, these trade associations that I referred to have been studying the issue of Federal Home Loan Bank financial disclosure requirements for some time, as have the Home Loan Bank Presidents that are testifying today.  I, on the other hand, am a relative newcomer to this discussion.  The week before last, when I attended our all System meeting of Federal Home Loan Bank Directors here in Washington, I had my first opportunity to participate directly in discussions about possible changes to the disclosure regime for the Federal Home Loan Banks.  And I'll have to say that I am somewhat puzzled by the approach taken to this extremely important and sensitive matter.  As shareholders, we clearly have the most immediate and direct stake in this discussion.  We own the Banks.  But I have yet to hear a satisfactory explanation of exactly what disclosure problems or deficiencies the advocates of change believe they are solving.

	It's apparent that the Federal Home Loan Banks, the Finance Board, Treasury and others agree that current political sentiment calls for an increase in the transparency of the Bank System's financial activities and easier access to such information.  As best I can discern, that sentiment led very quickly to a question of jurisdiction, the one that Mr. Leichter raised.  Which agency should have authority in this area?  I think the discussion skipped a beat by failing to ask first what is the nature of the problem that we're trying to address?  I think we might be a bit ahead of ourselves.

	Changing disclosure practices is an action that should be made thoughtfully and deliberately, based on solid analysis and input from those who use the disclosures.  Transparency and availability of accurate financial information provide the foundation of our capital markets.  The purpose of financial disclosures is to ensure that investors and those who support and facilitate the capital markets have complete, accurate and timely information that is material to their investment decisions.

	I would first ask, what evidence do we have that investors or members are dissatisfied with the information the Bank System is presenting?  What are the specific deficiencies?  What problem are we trying to remedy?

	As I've listened to discussions about proposed changes in disclosure regulation for the Bank System, I believe that confusion occurs when clear distinctions are not made between debt and equity.  There are critical distinctions between the Bank System's debt and equity, and even more distinctions, more important distinctions between the Bank System's debt and equity and those of other companies.  These differences must be acknowledged and thoroughly understood if the Finance Board and others are to make good decisions about disclosure practices.

	First let's consider the Bank System itself.  The Federal Home Loan Bank System provides wholesale mortgage funding through 12 independently, cooperatively owned banks.  Each manages its own operations and financial performance under the oversight of its own board of directors.  Each Bank has its own management team, and is capitalized by its own membership through its own individually designed capital structure as provided under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999.  As a member, I value the regional nature of the Bank System and the high level of member service and responsiveness that comes along with it.  

	Despite all of this independence, the Federal Home Loan Banks are required by law to jointly fund their operations through their issuance of consolidated obligations or COs in the capital markets.  This activity occurs through the Bank System's Office of Finance, with each of the 12 Home Loan Banks jointly and severally liable for the debt issued and outstanding.  This collective issuance activity is a unique characteristic of the Federal Home Loan Bank System's debt.  No other corporate entities issue debt in the publicly-traded capital markets in a similar manner, including Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

	Over the years an elaborate system of financial disclosures has evolved under the leadership of the Office of Finance and under the regulation of the Finance Board to provide the type and frequency of material information demanded by investors in the marketplace for these debt securities.  Much of the financial disclosure regime related to the Bank System's COs parallels the SEC rules that have developed for more typical corporate issuers.  However, the financial information disclosed is unique in that it provides a combination, not technically a consolidation of the financial statements from each of the 12 banks that by statute are jointly and severally liable for the debt. Regulatory jurisdiction over this disclosure system is appropriately lodged with the Finance Board, and it has worked very successfully.  

	In fact, at the recent System-wide directors meeting, I asked senior members of two leading investment banking firms who deal extensively in the CO market what changes, if any, they would suggest in financial disclosures currently provided for the Bank System consolidated debt, either to better satisfy investor requirements for information or to improve pricing of the debt.  They both replied that the current disclosure system is adequate and effective, that it has evolved successfully over time to reflect changes in the individual Banks and the Bank System, and that they expect such disclosures to evolve with future changes such as increased concentration in acquired mortgage assets, under the regulation of the Finance Board.

	I want to emphasize this not because of proposed change in jurisdiction over regulation of financial disclosures related to the debt securities of the Home Loan Banks as before us today.  I emphasize it instead because it is in the public market for debt securities of the System, not in the highly restricted and unique market, if you can call it that, for the Federal Home Loan Bank stock, where we find typical financial investment decisions being made, and with the related need for typical market financial disclosures that are similar to those mandated by the SEC.  And it is in this very debt market with a dollar value of over 20 times the amount of the Federal Home Lank Bank stock outstanding at any given time, where we find the Federal Home Loan Bank System under the capable regulation of the Finance Board performing very well without suggestions for radical change.  The Finance Board has proven to be an effective disclosure regulator for this significant amount of publicly traded debt that is sold by a uniquely structured issuer.

	Now, turning to the equity securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank System, we have very different securities characteristics and issues but they need to the same conclusion:  that regulation of financial disclosures is most appropriately handled by the Federal Housing Finance Board.  

	Unlike the debt securities, which are issued on a System-wide basis and involve a unique issuer structure, each Federal Home Loan Bank, a discrete, identifiable legal entity -- issues stock.  However, what is unusual on the equity side is that decisions to purchase stock are not made for the reasons or in the manner a typical investor would make an investment decision to purchase an equity security.  Accordingly, the financial disclosures that would support a typical stock investment decision in the marketplace are not at all suited to the Federal Home Loan Bank situation.

	Each Federal Home Loan Bank has its own stock that is purchased by the members in its region.  This stock cannot be sold to the public at large.  You can't buy it from a stockbroker.  There is no ticker symbol for it.  The market price doesn't go up and down.  The stock has a constant par value of $100 per share.  Only a small number of sophisticated investors -- all of whom are financial institutions -- can buy this stock.  

	When a bank first acquires Federal Home Loan Bank stock it is usually incidental to a decision about whether to become a member of this wholesale bank cooperative system in order to have access to its products and services.  Financial returns on this initial investment are generally of secondary importance.

	When my bank changes its position in Federal Home Loan Bank stock, the amount we purchase or sell in a given day is dictated by the composition of our balance sheet and our utilization of Federal Home Loan Bank services.  The investment is a condition of our membership and the amount of the investment required depends on our size and on our use of the Home Loan Bank's products and services over time.  It's an investment we make because we want to use the cooperative services.  This is not the case with stock purchases one would make in the public equity market.  Federal Home Loan Bank stock is a very different investment, purchased in a very different way and for very different reasons than other equities including those of our fellow housing GSEs, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.  I measure the return on our bank's investment in the Seattle Bank based on the value we receive through advances, through the Mortgage Purchase Program, through the Affordable Housing Program and other services as well as the earned dividend.  This is a very different value proposition than the typical equity investment.  It's also a difficult calculation.  And evaluating this value proposition requires very different information than would be required of the typical corporate stock issue registered with the SEC.

	Financial disclosure will be effective only if it captures the Federal Home Loan Bank System's unique structure and cooperative arrangement, and it provides information relevant to the complex and unusual business decision made by a member bank when it is increasing or decreasing the amount of Home Loan Bank stock that it holds.  

	The Bank System is fundamentally different.  No one can deny that.  Just as an effective disclosure system has evolved, under the regulatory authority of the Finance Board, to support investor requirements and an efficient market for Bank System debt securities, so is a disclosure system evolving for the equity securities issued by the individual Federal Home Loan Banks pursuant to capital plans implemented under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.

	The Seattle Bank has been the first and so far only Bank in the System to implement its new capital plan as mandated by the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act.  Because this involved new investment decisions for every stockholder of our Bank, the board of directors, management and staff took very seriously the Bank's disclosure responsibilities.  Working in cooperation with the Finance Board and its staff, the other Home Loan Banks and legal counsel, the Seattle Bank developed a disclosure document that was intended to provide all material information needed by the stockholders to make their investment decisions.  Not one of our 374 stockholders, all of whom are financial institutions and presumably very sophisticated investors, requested additional financial disclosures.  And this complex recapitalization took place at the height of public concern about corporate responsibility and adequacy of financial disclosures following the Enron and WorldCom debacles.

I'll add that while there has been tremendous turmoil in the public equity and debt markets regulated by the SEC, the Federal Home Loan Bank's debt issuance and capital stock activities have not generated controversy.  Were there concerns, you can be sure that the associations representing members of the financial services industry would be calling for reform today.  That is not the case.

	I made the point earlier that changing disclosure practices is an action that should be undertaken thoughtfully and deliberately based on solid analysis and input from those who use the disclosures.  The first question we must ask is what additional or enhanced disclosures are needed, by whom, and for what purpose?  As I have participated in discussions about possible changes in regulation of Bank System disclosures, I feel like I'm one of the few people asking that question.  What substantive changes are needed?  Who needs them? And why?  I am all for disclosure, but these questions need to be answered first before we can proceed to the next step, which is to ask how enhanced disclosure can best be provided?  That's the question of jurisdiction.

	For those of us who have practiced securities laws or been directly involved in the financial disclosure system that underpins our capital markets, there is no doubt that the acronym SEC has to the connotation of gold standard.  However, that does not mean that the Federal Home Loan Banks, as both unique issuers of debt and issuers of unique stock, would improve the quality of effectiveness of their financial disclosures by transferring regulatory responsibility for their financial disclosures to the SEC.  I have not heard officials of the SEC calling for specific changes in the financial disclosures made by the Home Loan Banks.  Nor am I aware that the SEC has demonstrated that it can be a more effective regulator of the Federal Home Loan Bank System disclosure system than the Finance Board.

	If thorough analysis and research justifies it, I fully support the idea of modifying and improving Federal Home Loan Bank reporting to more fully capture all necessary and appropriate disclosure requirements set forth in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  And from my perspective, it's not only logical, but also essential that the Federal Housing Finance Board, as part of its strong and comprehensive supervision of the Federal Home Loan Bank System should be responsible for overseeing these reporting and disclosure practices.

	The Federal Housing Finance Board is a strong and effective regulator of the Federal Home Loan Bank System.  There is no better evidence of this than the fact that in its 70-year history, the Bank System has never experienced a credit loss, never cost the taxpayer a dime, and never even tapped its emergency line of credit with the Treasury Department.  Chairman Korsmo has brought an even stronger focus on safety and soundness regulation as evidenced through his recent restructuring of the agency which substantially increased staffing in the supervision area.  Under his leadership the Federal Home Loan Banks have moved forward with adopting risk based capital requirements and implementing their new capital plans in just three years, far less time than has been required by other housing GSE regulators to just finalize risk-based capital standards.

	In the Finance Board we have a strong regulator that has diligently created and forcefully carried out very high quality financial disclosure and reporting requirements.  I should note that Congress created the Finance Board so that it would have close and intimate knowledge of the business and financial condition and operations of each of the 12 Federal Home Loan Banks.  As a member of the Bank System it gives me great confidence that each regional Bank undergoes such intense scrutiny.  I can be confident, not only in the regulation of the Seattle Bank, but also in the operations of the sister banks.  That's critically important to all of us shareholders, given the nature of the joint and several liability.  It is also critically important to the American public that depends on the Finance Board, backed by $30 billion in private member capital, to protect their interest in this System.

	Developing and implementing financial disclosures to provide meaningful, material and transparent information to investors is a logical element of the Finance Board's regulatory activities, and its focus on safety and soundness.  It's what the Finance Board was designed to do by law.  Nothing has changed that casts doubt on the ability of the Finance Board to do its job effectively and nothing has changed in law that indicates Congress desired a change in jurisdiction.  Unlike the SEC the Finance Board knows the Bank System inside and out, including all of its unique aspects.  It won't have to make the square peg fit the round hole.  As a shareholder, I have much greater confidence that the Finance Board will best protect my interest as an investor, not because it's the agency most familiar with financial disclosure regulation in the public equity markets, but instead because it is intimately familiar with the Federal Home Loan Bank System and with the unique membership as well as investment attributes of the Federal Home Loan Bank stock, which is not sold in the public markets.

	The Finance Board can and does borrow the best disclosure practices from the SEC and tailors them to this unique system.  As the risk profile of the 12 Banks evolves, so to should the Finance Board continue to enhance reporting and disclosures to adopt the highest standards of transparency and openness.  

	Changes have occurred in the public markets, and this has resulted in greater rigor in those markets, much of which the Finance Board can apply to Home Loan Banks.

	The Federal Home Loan Banks are already working together with the Finance Board to implement a state of the art disclosure framework for the regional Banks and the System that would be administered by the Finance Board.  This framework would deliver disclosure both for the individual Bank and for the System at a level that mirrors that of SEC reporting companies with modifications necessary to reflect the Federal Home Loan Bank's unique characteristics.  This includes the standard 10K, 10Q and 8K reports that we're all familiar with from the public markets.  The Federal Home Loan Banks would also post them online as public companies do, to promote easy and timely access to extensive financial information.  These are just a few examples of the expanded disclosures that could be implemented for the Bank System if determined appropriate by the Finance Board.

	As a member, I am obviously concerned by the idea of moving jurisdiction to the SEC.  The Bank System has a capable regulator able to implement any necessary changes in disclosure practices.  The transfer of jurisdiction, on the other hand, would be complex and could have unintended consequences in the capital markets with no added protection to investors such as my institution.  Further, it would unnecessary cost and needlessly distract the Bank System from its congressionally chartered mission of serving members and advancing housing and community development throughout the nation.  Finally, I am also concerned that the efforts of a regulator unfamiliar with the unique aspects of the Federal Home Loan Bank System to apply a disclosure regime designed for a different type of issuer, and entirely different investment decisions, could, however well intended, result in changes to those unique aspects of the Bank System that make it so valuable to housing lenders like HomeStreet Bank.

	In closing I acknowledge and respect the public and political sentiment favoring greater access to the financial information of all companies.  As one who has worked throughout my professional career as a lawyer and banker, with the financial information that our capital markets rely upon to function effectively, and as the Chairman and owner of a member bank that holds $33 million in Federal Home Loan Bank stock, I fully support your aspiration, Chairman Korsmo, that the Federal Home Loan Bank should become, quote, "role models for accountability and disclosure," end quote.  However, fulfilling this aspiration requires us to continue to focus on the substance of our financial disclosures, specific changes appropriate to our unique structure and stock that should be made and how those changes can be made most effectively.  I encourage the Federal Home Loan Banks and the Finance Board to engage with the members who own this System to determine precisely how to improve disclosures in ways that are meaningful for investors.  Such cooperative effort has worked successfully in the past, and it is the best way to continue evolution of an enhanced and state of the art disclosure system for the future.

	Should greater disclosure be warranted to better serve the interests of the regional banks, members, investors and taxpayers?  I believe those interests can best be served through an enhanced financial reporting and disclosure regulation that is administered by the Finance Board and reflects the unique characteristics of the Federal Home Loan Bank System.

	As a shareholder and Director of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle, I thank you for your leadership in the area of corporate responsibility, transparency and financial disclosure.  But I also ask that you take appropriate credit for successfully regulating financial disclosures of the Federal Home Loan Bank System in the past and that you have confidence that you, the Federal Housing Finance Board, is best situated and fully up to his important task in the future.

	Thank you, all of you, for the opportunity to participate in today's public discussion of this important matter.  Should you decide to pursue further whether the Federal Housing Finance Board should relinquish its own authority to regulate the securities disclosure practices of the Federal Home Loan Bank System, I sincerely hope that this will be the beginning, not the end, of your willingness to engage all 7,000 owners of the Bank System, as well as the trade associations who represent them, in vigorous and thoughtful analysis and debate before making a decision to proceed.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Mr. Swanson.  I hope that my opening comments would put your mind at ease on at least to that aspect of the exchange.  This is, as I mentioned, the beginning of the process.  It's certainly nowhere near the end of the process.  However, I think we are making progress.

	I may have a question or two, but before I do, let me open the floor to any questions that any other directors may have of Mr. Swanson.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Why don't you start?

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I was interested in where you quote my comments about the banks becoming role models for accountability and disclosure, and go on to suggest that that would require us to continue to focus on the substance of our financial disclosures, specific changes appropriate to our unique structure and stock that should be made, and how these changes can be made most effectively, which of course is precisely the process we're engaged in now.

	Again, as I mentioned earlier, I hope no one is under the impression that we are not being as deliberative and moving as carefully and judiciously as possible, because that is precisely the reason, frankly, for this hearing, is to address exactly these kinds of questions.

	I was interested in your concern expressed about two things, any unintended consequences to the capital markets that may accompany disclosure information being available through the Securities and Exchange Commission, for example, in what you concede is kind of the gold standard of disclosures as opposed to having similar disclosures be made here at the Finance Board.  I recognize that by definition unintended consequences are unintended, but can you anticipate what any of those unintended consequences might be?  And part two of the same question goes to the point about adding unnecessary costs.  Where would those costs lie in your mind, Mr. Swanson?

	MR. SWANSON:  Let me first respond to one of your earlier questions, and then those two.  I was very heartened to hear you say at the outset of the meeting today--and I don't mean to take liberties with what you said--but it sounded like you said that you would be very careful about moving forward with any changes until you had some assurance from the discussions with the SEC that there would be no ramifications for the Bank System that would arise out of a change in jurisdiction.  And my testimony was written the eve before Thanksgiving.  I didn't expect to be here.  But based on a comment that you made at the All System Meeting, when I asked you basically the question, what will you do in your discussions with the SEC if you feel that they can't respond or assist in this disclosure effort in a way that preserves the unique structure of the Federal Home Loan Bank System?  And at that time your answer was different than you have given today.  So I really appreciate that change.  You said you couldn't give any assurance on that issue.  So I'm pleased.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I answered with a non-answer, in other words.

	MR. SWANSON:  I'm pleased that you feel as strongly about that as you apparently do.

	Regarding the unintended consequences, there are people in this room who know a lot more and have a lot more current information about the securities market, the SEC and disclosure practices than I do.  My knowledge is gained from kind of a lifetime of working in and around this area.  But I have had experience where you bring in a new authority, a new disclosure authority, into a disclosure system that has had a lot of history and a lot of tradition and a lot of success in adapting disclosure models, disclosure language, disclosure documents to a unique system.  And the Federal Home Loan Bank System, from a member's point of view, is successful and relies upon being there for us every day.  We may need to take down an advance that could trigger a stock purchase requirement tomorrow to fund an unanticipated demand in mortgage lending because of an interest rate reduction in the refi. volumes we're dealing with that has to be done tomorrow.  The Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle may need to issue debt tomorrow in order to fund an unanticipated advance to HomeStreet Bank, and to jeopardize the functioning of that system in regulatory disagreement about either the method or the substance of handling disclosures, I think would be a terrible mistake.

	The Federal Housing Finance Board has proven that it can handle this well, and that isn't to say that it shouldn't go to the SEC and learn whatever it can, as it always has, about the SEC's view about good disclosure.  But that's a different conversation than seating jurisdiction.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  So that would be what you would consider one of the unique aspects of the structure of the stock that would have to be accommodated under any disclosure regime, even if the enhanced disclosure regime were residents here at the Finance Board, your concern would be that those enhanced disclosures not interfere with this particular aspect that we could assume is perhaps unique to the Federal Home Loan Bank System, where we have the situation where there are immediate needs that require purchases of stock, or there are immediate needs that require the Seattle Bank to go into the market and raise funds.

	MR. SWANSON:  Maybe I didn't speak clearly enough.  As the regulator of disclosure for the Federal Home Loan Bank System and the Federal Home Loan Banks, you are in charge of the evolution of this disclosure as it has evolved in the past and as it will evolve in the future, and you can balance possible changes in the way disclosure occurs against other considerations of the right timing--

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  So the concern would be that some other body could not balance those concerns?

	MR. SWANSON:  Exactly.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  All right.  How about the cost question?

	MR. SWANSON:  The primary cost that I'm concerned about--and I just can't speak to registration fees and that sort of thing.  I think you should ask people who are more familiar with that than I am.  But the primary cost that I'm concerned about is the cost to the System, both at the Federal Housing Finance Board level and the individual Bank level, of having to research and negotiate with and comply with a different regulatory jurisdiction's method of doing things as opposed to investing those funds as the Bank System always has in continuing to evolve and enhance its own disclosure system.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  But presumably those concerns would be concerns that could be predetermined.  In other words, those would be threshold questions that would be answered before any different, albeit enhanced, disclosure regime would be put into place.  So those costs would be up front, would they not?

	MR. SWANSON:  That has not been my experience in dealing with issuers that have had to change jurisdiction.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  So the concern would be that on an ongoing basis there would be changes that would arise of which we would be unaware and could not anticipate, so it would, by necessity, require--would impose the System the increased costs?  Jay is shaking his head up and down, so maybe we're going to get to that point in his testimony, and maybe we can defer it.

	MR. SWANSON:  Maybe all I'll say is I think.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I'm trying to get to the question because we hear it all the time, a concern about increased costs that would be involved.  And I guess whenever I've asked a question, I've never received a specific answer as to where indeed the cost--what would be the genesis of these costs and what they would be.  My understanding is--correct me if I'm wrong--is there's not a registration fee any more, is there not?  So that wouldn't be the situation.  It would be the fact that--the concern would be that we would have costs inherent in meeting requirements?

	MR. SWANSON:  My sense is that part of that would be incurred in the process of change, and part of the--would be an ongoing additional cost.  Wherever you've got multiple layers of regulatory authority, you've got additional friction, additional staff, additional overhead.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Would you see that being the same--I guess we would be speculating, and frankly, that's why I didn't answer your question more directly at the gathering the other day, is because I didn't want to try to predict the future.  And so I guess if I asked this question again, I'd be asking you to do the same thing about anticipating whether or not any system that we came up with that would be a change from the current system, obviously, would impose at least some level of the same cost concern that you have now, that being--well, when we change from what we're doing now, there's going to be more costs involved, and it would be unfair of me to ask you to predict what those costs would be given the fact we don't know what the hell the changes would be yet.

	But beyond that, again, therein my concern when the whole question of cost has been raised, I'm not sure what people mean by that when we haven't come up with what the differences would be between the system under which the system is living now and any future system, whether it's housed at the Federal Housing Finance Board or elsewhere.  At this point we're only speculating about what the increased cost might be.

	MR. SWANSON:  I mean I think that underscores my point that the important thing to me is that we focus on the substance of good disclosure and how we get to that substance as efficiently and effectively as we can, and that's the question I feel like we're somehow skipping over, and it's causing a number of problems with--

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I appreciate that completely, and what that suggests to me is that we should probably do a better job of assuring that the boards of directors of the Banks are tuned in to what's going on with the working group process in this discussion on a more ongoing basis than we have.  Frankly, I have had that concern.  I think I may have raised it at the directors meeting or maybe I raised it at -- I had the opportunity to spend some time at a joint session with the boards from Boston, Indianapolis and Topeka, and that was one of the questions that came up there, which like a light bulb went on in my head that we're obviously not doing a good enough job of keeping those people who are most important in this process, the boards of directors of the Banks, tuned in to where we are, so I think we will try to do a better job as we move forward in this process, of making sure you all know where we are and what's going on in the state of play at the moment.  We've not done a good job of that.  I think this little exchange here probably demonstrates that again.  And we'll commit to doing a better job of that in the future.

	Are there any other questions for Mr. Swanson from anybody?  Dr. Mendelowitz?

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I actually have questions for Mr. Swanson, but in the interest of timeliness and efficient--

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Should we go through everybody first?

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I was going to suggest that I'd be happy to defer my questions until all the statements have been entered into the record, and then we might question the whole panel at once.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  If there's no objection, that makes sense to me too.  Why don't we do that?

	Thank you, Dick, for your presentation.  We appreciate you very much being here.

	MR. SWANSON:  Thank you.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Having made that flight back and forth a couple of times, I know it's a major commitment to come to this coast from that coast, and so we very much appreciate you being here today on behalf of the board of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle.

	With that, I understand that the order would be, Mr. Roy, we'll start with you.

	Mr. Roy is the President of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh, and we will turn to you for your testimony first.  Jay?

	MR. ROY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  It's my pleasure to submit this testimony on behalf of the Federal Home Loan Banks concerning issues pertaining to the registration of Federal Home Loan Bank stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  I suspect some of my comments will parallel those made in Dick's introductory testimony.

	But to begin with, let me express the Home Loan Bank's continuing support for full, accurate and completely transparent securities disclosure.  The Home Loan Banks have and will continue to ensure that the Home Loan Banks and the System adhere to the highest disclosure standards.  And I'll review, there is no need to change the regulatory structure.  Neither the Banks, their member owners, the capital markets, nor the public are requesting that the responsibility to review and enforce Federal Home Loan Bank securities disclosure be transferred from the Finance Board to the Securities and Exchange Commission.  We're not aware that the financial markets are seeking additional financial information regarding the 12 individual Home Loan Banks.  Our consolidated obligations sell and trade at competitive prices, reflecting that the markets have the financial information they require.  Simply put, the utter silence of the marketplace testifies loudly, in our way of thinking, to the core point that change of disclosure jurisdiction is neither appropriate nor necessary.

	Having the SEC assume a dominant role in the supervision of the Federal Home Loan Banks through authority over their disclosure would of course represent a fundamental change in the regulatory regime for the Federal Home Loan Bank System.  Such a change -- no matter how well intentioned -- could adversely affect the ability of the Federal Home Loan Bank System to meet the needs of its member owners, and the communities they serve.  More than that, we fear a radical alteration of the very nature and structure of a unique FHLB enterprise that has functioned so effectively for so many years.  Therefore, while the Federal Home Loan Banks fully support the state of the art disclosure regime, we believe that oversight thereof should be administered by the Finance Board.  This would not only accomplish our shared goal of ensuring best practice disclosures, but would also take full advantage of the Finance Board's specialized knowledge and understanding of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and its unique cooperative structure.

	The compelling public policy need to register capital stock of the Federal Home Loan Banks, all of which is owned solely by their member financial institutions, under the 1934 Act is not clear.  Unlike other housing GSEs, the Home Loan Banks are cooperatives in which a member joins the Home Loan Bank and becomes a shareholder so that it can obtain the benefits of membership.

	The Federal Home Loan Bank System and Home Loan Bank stock are unique.  Federal Home Loan Banks do not have the authority to issue common stock to the public.  The capital stocks that they issue to their members does not trade on any stock exchange or the NASDAQ.  Federal Home Loan Bank capital stock is transferable only between member institutions, and in any event, may never be transferred to or held by the general public.  It may be issued, transferred, repurchased and redeemed only at par.  Thus there is no appreciation or depreciation in the marketprice of the stock.  It's unlike stock issued by any public company.  Moreover, no officer or director of any Federal Home Loan Bank may own any Federal Home Loan Bank stock or stock options, receive other equity-linked compensation, or otherwise benefit financially from the stock.

	In recent years, the Finance Board has created a securities disclosure framework for System debt that has functioned well and is widely accepted in the marketplace.  We believe it makes sense to build upon this framework as a means to achieve the highest disclosure standards for the Federal Home Loan Bank System and its respective constituents and stakeholders.  The alternative of transferring disclosure jurisdiction to the SEC not only ignores the fact that an effective disclosure regime is already in place but, in our view, would radically alter the financial and operational structure of the System, and is simply not contemplated under current law.  Frankly, we question the benefit of changing the regulation of a system that has worked efficiently for more than 70 years; become one of the largest issuers of debt in the world; never suffered a loss on an advance to a member; always provided the capital markets with the information needed to function efficiently; and functioned extremely well from the perspective of its member owners.

	The Finance Board currently mandates SEC-like disclosures in connection with the issuance of COs.  In doing so, the Finance Board has properly exercised its statutory authority and has done an excellent job in creating a disclosure regime that is based on SEC regulation, but tailored to reflect the unique structure and business of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and its member owners.  

	Under the leadership of the Finance Board, the Federal Home Loan Banks have been a model for GSE disclosure and safe and sound operation.  Now, we understand that questions regarding the disclosure obligations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac initiated this more generalized discussion about GSE disclosure and registration.  However, there is no basis to project concerns about Fannie and Freddie on to the Federal Home Loan Banks.  Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac issue equity securities to the public.  Their stock is traded on exchanges, it fluctuates in value.  They are independent public companies that issue debt which is unrelated to each other.  Directors and officers enjoy the benefits of stock options and other stock-based purchases.  Disclosures about their equity securities will inform equity and debt investors, providing what they need to know.  Finally, both Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac issue billions in mortgage-backed securities that do not meet private label issuance standards.  None of these conditions applies to the Federal Home Loan Banks.

	In addition, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are regulated by the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight, OFHEO.  OFHEO does not have broad regulatory authority over those GSEs.  It's basically empowered to ensure that they do not engage in unsafe and unsound activities.  Once again, the Federal Home Loan Bank System is completely distinguishable in this regard.  The Finance Board has comprehensive authority over the activities, investments, capital plans and forms of capital that the Federal Home Loan Banks may undertake.  It appoints a substantial minority of our directors, and it can decide in its sole discretion to merge or liquidate Home Loan Banks.  The Finance Board regulates the Federal Home Loan Banks' activities, examines their financial condition and performance, ensures that they are operating in a safe and sound manner, and acts as the final arbiter on the disclosures made by the System when it issues COs.

	The perceived need to create consistency in the regulation of all GSEs is not well founded because there is no consistency in the nature, structure, activities, or regulation of GSEs.  Ralph Waldo Emerson wrote that, "A foolish consistency is the hob goblin of little minds."  We need to be careful that we don't inadvertently illustrate the truth of that observation.  Rather than take a “one-size-fits-all” approach to disclosure and oversight jurisdiction, we believe a more thoughtful surgical solution is warranted.

	The Finance Board has created an effective securities disclosure regime that is based on SEC standards.  The current securities disclosure regime for the Federal Home Loan Bank System was created in July 1998, when after a careful review, the Finance Board issued a policy statement to ensure that investors in COs received state-of-the-art securities disclosures.  The policy statement required that the Federal Home Loan Bank System's annual and quarterly reports, to the extent practicable, be prepared generally in accordance with the requirements of the SEC's regulations S-K and S-X.  In recognition of the special circumstances relating to COs and the unique structure of the Federal Home Loan Bank System, the Finance Board authorized a limited number of exceptions to the requirements of Regulation S-K.  Following the adoption of the policy statement, Finance Board staff generally followed SEC standards in the preparation of annual and quarterly reports through the annual report for 2000.  

	Then as part of the Finance Board's decision in 2001 to authorize 12 Federal Home Loan Banks to become the joint issuers of COs through the Office of Finance, the Finance Board, again, carefully considered how the securities disclosure responsibilities for COs should be handled once this transition became effective.  In this regard the Finance Board determined to carry forward the disclosure regime it had developed in 1998 and adopted a new regulation, Part 985, requiring the Office of Finance to apply SEC disclosure requirements to Federal Home Loan Bank System's annual and quarterly combined reports.  

	Part 985 reserves to the Finance Board the authority to determine whether or not an annual or quarterly report complies with SEC disclosure standards.  The regulation also provides that the Office of Finance must comply promptly with any directive of the Finance Board regarding preparation, filing, amendment or distribution of the Federal Home Loan Bank System's annual or quarterly combined financial reports.  Since the Finance Board is already functioning effectively as the securities disclosure regulator for the Federal Home Loan Bank System, there is simply no compelling reason to create a bifurcated regulatory structure and transfer securities disclosure jurisdiction for the individual Home Loan Banks to another government agency.  Given its 70 years of experience in examining the Federal Home Loan Banks and the depth of knowledge regarding the operations and financial condition of the individual Federal Home Loan Banks acquired as a result of its examination and supervisory powers, the Finance Board is clearly in the best position to supervise the quality and timeliness of disclosures.  Indeed, historically, a regulatory change of the magnitude being contemplated by the Treasury could only be made by Congress, and then only in the face of some quantifiable defect or crisis in the System.  No such defect or crisis exists.

	We do not believe our member shareholders perceive any benefit to registration of their Federal Home Loan Bank stock under the '34 Act, as compared to regulation under a disclosure structure implemented by the Finance Board.  On the contrary, we believe our member owners likely see quantifiable disadvantages to registration under the '34 Act, including the additional burdens and costs that such registration would impose on the Federal Home Loan Banks, which inevitably would be passed on to them as well as to the American homeowner.

	In conclusion, let me note that the Federal Home Loan Bank System has been a remarkable success story that should not be altered unless there are tangible benefits to be achieved.  The Federal Home Loan Banks see none that would arise from registration of their capital stock under the '34 Act that have not already been achieved or could be achieved by further enhanced Finance Board regulation.  There is no demonstrated abuse or market failure that has resulted from Finance Board jurisdiction over a Federal Home Loan Bank and Bank System disclosures to date.  In fact, current Bank System disclosures for debt are SEC based and the market has not received any material deficiencies in those disclosures.  Adoption by the Finance Board of a disclosure regulation that transfers its comprehensive authority over Federal Home Loan Bank and Bank System disclosures to the SEC is not contemplated under the Federal Home Loan Bank Act, is likely to lead to significant financing and operational issues for the FHLBanks, and could potentially create unintended conflicts between the disclosure regime for debt securities and the capital stock disclosure regime for the individual Federal Home Loan Banks.  We should not underestimate the significance of these unintended consequences.  Taken together they are so profound as to threaten radical transformation in the very nature and structure of the System.  As a result, the Federal Home Loan Bank strongly believes that a robust new disclosure regulation for the Federal Home Loan Banks that is administered by the Finance Board is the most appropriate way to accomplish our shared goal of transparency and state of the art disclosure practices.

	Mr. Chairman and Board Members, Mark Twain once said that, "for every complex problem there is a simple solution -- and it is generally wrong."  The solution being contemplated to this complex problem is to turn over the reins to the SEC, and that is a simple solution and is wrong.

	I appreciate the opportunity to participate in this public hearing.  We look forward to a continuing dialogue with the Finance Board on this important matter.�	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Mr. Roy.  As we have determined, why don't we just go through all three presentations, and then we'll turn to any questions.

	So, with that, we'll turn to the President of the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York, Al DelliBovi.

	Al?

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Mr. Chairman, Directors and staff of the Federal Housing Finance Board and also of the other agencies, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Treasury Department, the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and others that I'm sure that I missed.

	I really appreciate this opportunity.  It's a pleasure to testify today on behalf of all 12 Federal Home Loan Banks regarding the views of the Federal Home Loan Banks concerning registration of Federal Home Loan Bank stock under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and I applaud your willingness to listen before you begin the formal rulemaking process.  Something I learned when I was inside the Beltway, that it's probably a better rulemaking when you listen before you start, than when you wait until after it's on paper and then listen.

	In the interest of time, Mr. Chairman, I'd like to request that my full statement be put into the record, and then I'll try and hit the highlights, if I may.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Without objection.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  As you've heard today, Mr. Chairman, the Federal Home Loan Banks enthusiastically support full, accurate, and transparent securities disclosure, but neither Federal Home Loan Bank members, nor the financial markets are seeking SEC registration of Federal Home Loan Bank capital stock or for that matter any other kind of direct involvement with the SEC and the Home Loan Banks.

	The Federal Home Loan Bank System created by Congress simply does not fit the traditional public company model that the securities laws are aimed at because of several critical factors: 	First, the cooperative ownership structure of each of the Home Loan Banks; second, the interrelated system financial issues created by joint and several liability for the consolidated obligations; and, third, the pervasive regulatory and supervisory authority of the Finance Board over the operations of the Federal Home Loan Banks and the System.  I know that there are people smiling here because this is one of the few times all 12 Home Loan Banks will be telling you what a warm, cuddly blanket the Office of Supervision and the other structures here provide.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Well, I have to say that I appreciate the great confidence in the regulatory competence of the Finance Board that I hear expressed today.  

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Well, it's only since you came, Mr. Chairman.  You made it a priority, and we recognize that.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I hope when the General Accounting Office calls on all of you before it issues its report on our performance to Congress, that you'll share your confidence in us with them.

	[Laughter.]

	MR. ROY:  You can count on us.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  You can count on that, Mr. Chairman.

	The Federal Home Loan Bank System is truly unique in its structure and operations.  In our view, the Finance Board is in the best position, both as a matter of law and supervision, to assure, as it has done in the past, the timeliness, accuracy and completeness of the Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank System disclosures.

	To the extent that the System's costs or funding efficiencies are adversely affected in even the slightest way by creating unnecessary or redundant regulatory structures, the dollars available for our Affordable Housing Programs will be directly reduced and the public will pay the price.

	While each Federal Home Loan Bank manages and controls its own business activities, operations, and financial performance, they are required by law to jointly fund their operations through the issuance of the consolidated obligations for which they are jointly and severally liable.

	The Federal Home Loan Banks are financially linked in a common cooperative enterprise.  This is a novel, but critical, fact that affects how the Federal Home Loan Bank System operates, how it should be regulated, and how disclosure must be affected.  Thus, while each Federal Home Loan Bank and its management can, and will, issue SEC-like disclosures with regard to its own capital stock, traditional debt disclosure conventions cannot be easily applied, since no Federal Home Loan Bank can authoritatively speak for the financial position of or other material issues within another Federal Home Loan Bank.

	The capital markets trade consolidated obligations successfully.  Therefore, based on combined disclosures which are made by the System -- and as matter of fact, until very recently, those disclosures were the responsibility of the Finance Board itself -- the structure of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and the individual Banks is different from a normal public company model because of the cooperative nature of the Home Loan Bank System.

	The goal of the business of a Federal Home Loan Bank is not to maximize profit on each transaction in order to reward investor shareholders.  Instead, the goal is to create financial products that allow the members to maximize their ability to provide competitively priced home mortgage products to American home buyers.

	No other entity does what the Federal Home Loan Banks do.  For that reason, the Federal Home Loan Banks have a separate regulator, the Finance Board, which is solely responsible for their regulation and supervision and which is not just a safety and soundness regulator like OFHEO down the block.

	In contrast, the Securities and Exchange Commission regulates disclosures by public companies which sell securities to the general public.  These securities trade in the market, and they fluctuate in value based on the financial performance and other related economic factors.  

	The SEC's mission is to protect those investors.  In most cases, those public companies who trade under SEC regulations have no federal or state regulator that has such comprehensive authority over their activities, and they do not issue joint and several liability debt with any other independent company.

	The securities laws have been constructed to deal with these fundamental principles, and they do an excellent job, but none of these things are true about the Home Loan Banks and the capital stock that they issue.

	The retention of jurisdiction by the Finance Board over the Federal Home Loan Bank System consolidated obligation disclosures, while delegating individual Home Loan Banks equity disclosures to the SEC, would impose two regulatory regimes on Home Loan Bank - related disclosures, create redundant compliance costs and give rise to potentially inconsistent regulation and disclosure mandates.

	Any conflict or lack of consistency between those two regulatory regimes could have an adverse impact on the Home Loan Bank System's access to the debt markets and its ability to serve its members and the public.

	A disclosure regime that is enforced by a government agency like the Finance Board that has the broadest authority over, and the most intimate financial knowledge of the entities making the disclosures, best protects both the Federal Home Loan Bank System investors and the American taxpayers, while facilitating the efficient flow of mortgage money to member institutions.

	In contrast, the Securities and Exchange Commission has responsibility for reviewing the securities filings of thousands of issuers.  The SEC is simply not in a position to devote the same resources to Federal Home Loan Bank securities disclosure as the Finance Board, which has the regulation of the Federal Home Loan Bank System as its sole responsibility.  I might add, on that point, that there was a front-page article in the New York Times yesterday that if any of you have not read, you ought to, because it explains in great detail the overwhelming burdens facing the folks at the Securities and Exchange Commission.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  If you would like to enter it into the record, here's a copy.

	[Laughter.]

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  You can enter it into the record.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Well, if I may enter this into the record, I will direct it to everyone's attention.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  There's certainly been no objection.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  It's shorter than the version I brought with me, but I'll assume that it's the same one.

	The fact of the matter is those folks are overwhelmed, and that's without even getting the Federal Home Loan Bank System issues on their plate.

	The Federal Home Loan Bank System is a square peg that does not easily or efficiently fit into the public company round-hole disclosure regime.  The member owners of the Federal Home Loan Banks will not benefit by having the responsibility for reviewing Federal Home Loan Bank capital stock disclosures transferred from the Finance Board to the SEC, particularly if the same SEC disclosure requirements, appropriately tailored to the Federal Home Loan Bank System, can be applied by the Finance Board.

	Now, while it is entirely appropriate to reevaluate whether current Finance Board disclosure requirements need to be improved in light of the current business environment, and whether the Finance Board should add additional staff to review the additional disclosure reports that would be filed with it under our proposed initiative, there is simply no substantive or legal basis to suggest or require that the responsibility for or the jurisdiction over those disclosures should, or could, be transferred to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

	Registration of Federal Home Loan Bank capital stock with the SEC under the 1934 Act could indirectly create disruptions in the Federal Home Loan Bank System's capital-raising efforts, our basic business.

	For example, a comment made by the SEC in the course of a periodic review of a single Home Loan Bank's 1934 Act filings on disclosure or accounting that has been made a Finance Board Convention or a comment that takes a different view from the Finance Board with regard to the financial presentation and disclosures for the COs, and these things are very common when you have two government agencies making the same pie.

	One simple comment like that could cause the Home Loan Bank System to have to suspend offerings of the consolidated obligations until the comment was resolved to the satisfaction of the SEC staff, and that's even if those obligations didn't have to be registered over at the SEC.

	As the cost of working through such issues with a new regulator would be substantial, we question the wisdom of such an approach, particularly when the markets are content.  Any disruption in the Federal Home Loan Bank System's financing activities could be costly and create systematic problems if one or more of the Banks are unable to fund member commitments or experience a significant adverse impact on its ability to maintain required capital levels.  Those increased costs would ultimately be passed along to the Federal Home Loan Bank members and the American homeowner.

	So, in conclusion, let me try to answer Director Leichter's two questions.

	First, the Federal Home Loan Banks strongly believe that a robust enhanced disclosure regulation for the Federal Home Loan Banks is the most appropriate way to accomplish our shared goal of enhanced transparency and disclosure.

	Second, we believe that disclosure regulation should be promulgated and administered by the Federal Housing Finance Board.

	Thank you very much.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Mr. DelliBovi.

	Batting clean-up, the President of the Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco, Dean Schultz.

	Dean?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

	Mr. Chairman, Directors, staff, and guests, I'm happy to have the opportunity to give this testimony on behalf of all 12 FHLBanks.  I'll be talking about the implementation of an enhanced disclosure regime for the Banks in the System.  I’ll be talking about a set of rules and practices appropriate for the Banks in the System, given their unique structure and mission.

	First, I'd like to congratulate the Board for taking on a very complicated and controversial task in defining appropriate disclosures for government-sponsored enterprises in all of their activities, and for seeking to make the Banks and the System a model for disclosures.  All of the Banks have talked about this.  We strongly agree.  We support that objective, and we commit ourselves to achieving it.

	We believe that it truly is appropriate for government-sponsored enterprises, which enjoy federally created advantages over other market participants, to be leaders in appropriate disclosure practices.  

	We also must bear in mind that these advantages were created to assist the enterprises in accomplishing public purposes.  So it's also appropriate always to be certain that the achievement of those objectives is not needlessly impaired.

	I assure you the Banks are eager to work with the Finance Board to enhance the already strong disclosure practices followed in this System.  We think all of the stakeholders in the Bank System will benefit from that effort.  

	As I said, my focus today will be on the Enhanced Disclosure Initiative proposed by the Banks and the Office of Finance.  This is an initiative that will provide state-of-the-art SEC requirement-based securities disclosure regime, and for reasons that you've heard earlier today, and probably will hear quite a few times into the future, we believe it should be under the jurisdiction of the Finance Board.

	At the outset, let me say that the Bank System is currently subject to effective SEC-based disclosure obligations administered by the Finance Board.  I make that assertion because we continue to gain new members and issue debt into the capital markets very successfully every day, year-after-year, not just from time-to-time, but consistently.

	Our proposed Enhanced Disclosure Initiative builds on this existing Finance Board-administered structure to provide disclosure at both the Bank level and the System level that's the same as that required of SEC companies, with modifications that take into account the unique aspects of the System's cooperative legal structure.

	As I said, the marketplace, and that includes Bank members and investors in consolidated obligations, has demonstrated reliance on, and satisfaction with, the nature and quality of the SEC requirement-based disclosures administered by the Finance Board.  I can also tell you, from personal involvement, that these disclosures are continually, as a matter of practice, reviewed and improved by both the Finance Board and the Office of Finance.  We've learned that making good disclosure is a process rather than a static condition, and that constant rethinking, adjustment and upgrading are necessary.

		In this spirit, and consistent with this practice, the Banks welcome the opportunity for the Banks and the System to take a fresh look at disclosure practices and to work with the Finance Board to enhance those disclosures.  

		We also share a firm belief that it's critical always to ensure the safety and soundness of the Banks and never to complicate or impair their achievement of their housing finance and community development mission.  That's because we believe in the system and its mission.

	With that in mind, over the past several months, all of the Banks have been working with our accounting and legal advisers, and the Finance Board staff, to better understand current and proposed SEC disclosure requirements and best practices.  Then we considered their application to the way the System does its business.  That is to say, the way it achieves its mission.  This came about as a result of an effort, through a working group created at your suggestion, Mr. Chairman, and we thank you for that.

	As a product of this educational process, the Banks have developed, for Finance Board review and consideration, a substantively enhanced disclosure framework for the Banks and the System that would continue to be administered by the Finance Board.

	The framework we are suggesting would provide disclosure both at the Bank level and the System level at least equal in substance to that required of SEC reporting companies and the only difference would be specific modifications that are needed as a result of the unique attributes of the Bank System and the System stock.

	These modifications I referred to are necessary to allow the Banks to continue to do business and to serve their members as they do right now.  I believe that these modifications would have to be made by any agency supervising Bank and System disclosures or, in the alternative, the System would have to change its structure and the way it achieves its mission.

	In general, the enhanced disclosure proposal would convert the Finance Board's existing disclosure framework, which focuses on public disclosure of System information --that's the 12 Banks combined and not individual Banks -- into one in which there is a public reporting obligation for both the Bank System and the individual Banks.

	In addition, the proposal would enhance the Finance Board's existing disclosure framework for the System by increasing the frequency of Bank System reporting and by requiring Bank System debt-offering disclosures to conform to SEC offering disclosure requirements, with the modifications, again, made necessary by the characteristics of the Banks and the System.

	Turning to individual Bank reporting, our proposal is based on the framework applicable to companies as equity securities are registered under the Exchange Act.  The Enhanced Disclosure Initiative proposed by the Banks would revise the existing Finance Board regulations to require a mandatory 10K annual report, a 10Q quarterly report, and 8K current reports by the individual Banks.  These reports would contain the same information as that in the SEC's Form 10K, 10Q and 8K reports, with modifications, where the requirements of those forms are incompatible with the cooperative, nature and structure of the Bank System or the attributes of Federal Home Loan Bank stock.

	The existing Finance Board regulations refer to SEC Regulations S-K and S-X.  This would change in the proposal.  By specifically referencing the corresponding SEC reports, the proposed initiative would encompass all disclosure requirements applicable to those reports whether they were contained in Regulation S-K, S-X or other forms, rules or SEC guidance.

	As an example, under this approach the Bank's reports would include the CEO and CFO certifications required for public reporting companies under Sarbanes-Oxley.  

	Also, the reports would comply with the proposed rules issued by the SEC relating to pro forma financial measures and with other existing and future disclosure policy guidance, such as guidance on critical accounting policies and estimates.

	In addition, the proposal would automatically include the additional reportable events recently proposed by the SEC to be added to Form 8-K.  We propose here that the Finance Board provide whatever specific interpretative implementation guidance is needed, such as where occasioned by the nature of the Bank's business and structure of the cooperative Bank System.

	To promote widespread public access to these mandated disclosures, the proposals contemplates that a Bank's reports would be filed with the Finance Board and also be publicly available on the Bank's website.  

	To assure accountability and clear oversight for these disclosures, the Bank's proposal contemplates that the Finance Board would retain the right to review the Bank's filed reports and require any changes that it determined to be necessary.

	Furthermore, to continue to ensure the quality and integrity of the individual Bank's financial statements, annual financial statements would have to be audited by a public accounting firm that meets the standard of independence required for auditing SEC reported companies.  Quarterly financial statements would be subject to a limited review by the independent accountants comparable to that required for SEC reporting companies.

	Finally, the Federal Home Loan Bank's proposal requires additional disclosures as a result of several situations specific to the Federal Home Loan Banks and their existing regulatory structure.

	For example, the proposal contemplates that, in addition to the items specified in Form 8-K, a Bank would be required to file current reports promptly after it provided a written notice under existing regulations to the Finance Board of its inability to comply with the liquidity requirements or other obligations and a filing of the consolidated obligation payment plan pursuant to Finance Board regulations.

	This proposal does not include the filing of proxy statements because Bank members have limited voting rights.  However, the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee reports that would otherwise be required to be filed in an SEC proxy statement would be published in the annual report.

	I'll now talk to the changes to the System reporting requirement.

	The Enhanced Disclosure Initiative would also call for mandatory annual and quarterly Bank System reports to be prepared by the Office of Finance.  The scope, form and content of the reports would be consistent with the disclosures required by the SEC to be included in a Form 10K annual report and 10Q quarterly report, again, subject to limited modifications to reflect the fact that the Office of Finance does not, in any way, act in a management capacity with respect to the Banks.

	The System would also be subject to mandatory current reporting for material Bank System-level events that wouldn't otherwise be required to be disclosed under the individual bank's enhanced current reporting obligations.

	Furthermore, like individual Bank reports, the System’s reports would be filed with the Finance Board and required to be made publicly available on the Office of Finance's website.  The Finance Board would retain the right to review the filed reports and require any changes that it determined be necessary.

	The System's annual combined financial statements would be audited by a public accounting firm that meets the standard of independence required for auditing SEC reporting companies, as is currently the case.  

	The quarterly combined financial statements would be required to be subject to a limited review by the independent accountants comparable to that required for SEC reporting companies also as is currently the case.

	Let me turn to the debt issuance documentation and mortgage-backed security offering documentation, should the Banks enter the mortgage-backed security business.

	First, the proposed Enhanced Disclosure Initiative would require the Finance Board to adopt a rule mandating that offering documentation for consolidated obligations conform to SEC offering disclosure requirements.

	Specifically, the debt offering disclosure proposal would require the System offering documentation to contain the same information required to be set forth with prospectuses for large, seasoned issuers registered with the SEC for offering some debt securities on a delayed or continuous basis, and subject to modifications which are appropriate to reflect the nature of the System, such as the terms and conditions of the COs, and the joint and several liability of the Banks.

	Second, with regard to the issuance of mortgage-backed securities, while the Banks do not yet have authority to issue mortgage-backed securities, we believe that the Finance Board should adopt new regulations which would require state-of-the-art securities disclosure standards that would be applied if, and when, the Banks issued mortgage-backed securities.

	The Banks share the Finance Board's goal that MBS disclosures of the Bank System serve as a model for all GSEs.  For the last 70 years, the Federal Home Loan Banks have played a vital role in the American housing and finance market.  They still play that role.  Over three-quarters of all Banks and thrifts in America are voluntary members of one bank or another.  These companies have chosen to be members.

	At the same time, the statutory definition of acceptable collateral has not appreciably changed, and what small changes have occurred have changed at the will of Congress.  It's always been the goal of the System to make investment in assets eligible to be pledged as collateral easier and more profitable for Bank members.  That's how the mission has been carried out, and the data speaks for itself.  I believe it's clear the System plays a vital, and successful, and expanding role in the American housing finance market.

	To preserve that role, a new disclosure regulation must safeguard the safety and soundness of the System and provide meaningful information to the public and maintain the ability of the Banks to achieve their mission.  We believe that the Enhanced Disclosure Initiative developed by the banks meets those standards.

	We also understand that the Finance Board may consider this proposal or may consider other disclosure methods it deems appropriate as well in its effort to provide for a better system of disclosure.  But whatever changes to the existing Finance Board disclosure standards are made, we strongly urge the Finance Board to retain its jurisdiction in this area to best serve the needs of public investors and member institutions.

	We consider this issue to be very important, and we're talking about important things as a result.  I very much appreciate the opportunity to participate in this public hearing.

	Thank you.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Dean.

	Do I understand that what we can call EDI, the Enhanced Disclosure Initiative, is in what form, draft form?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  An outline of what it would consist of is in the Finance Board's hands.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  It is?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  We didn't actually draft the exact language--

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Oh, is this the information I received just today?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you.  And so it would be possible, then, if the working group were to suggest it, that perhaps a proposed regulation based on EDI could be put together to take a look at?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  I believe that's true.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  He says, yes.  He says, I believe.  

	[Laughter.]

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you.  I appreciate all of you being here and taking the opportunity or sharing your insight with this Board.  With that, I would like to open the floor to any questions that any members of the Board may have of any of the presenters here today.

	Somebody has got to ask a question until Dr. Mendelowitz gets back.

	Director Leichter?

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  Well, fine.  Let me first thank you, Mr. Chairman, for convening this meeting because I think it was really most informative. Even more so, I want to thank you for raising an issue which brings all 12 Banks together for the first time within the history of the System to agree on a joint position.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  But in all seriousness, I understand how much thought has been given to this issue and how hard the Banks have worked on it.  I really want to thank all four of the people who testified because I think it's very informative.

	If I can maybe pick on my former colleague, Al DelliBovi, I guess I would ask you if you'll yield.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  I will do it with the same trepidation that I did in Albany.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  The issue that I think you raised was concern about a comment that might be made if there was a filing with the SEC and how that might impact on the debt-raising function of the System.

	Let me just see if I can pursue that.  If a filing is made with the SEC, let's say it's a quarterly filing or the annual filing, and even though the registration would be only for equity, nevertheless, the financial filing would also have to include debt information; is that correct?

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Yes.  I think that.

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  Right, so that this debt information, then, in whatever form the SEC may require it as to the nature, the extent, the quantity of the debt would then be part of the filing that's made with the SEC and would be subject, then, to the analysis, and the supervision, and the comments of the SEC.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  I think the concern really comes down to the fact that the SEC, are they going to be able to find the time with 16,000 registrants.  And the article that we placed on the record, demonstrates very clearly the pressures that that agency is feeling.  If they raise a question on the filing that we make, that's going to send a signal to the markets in general, and you know we've learned, over time, when you're issuing debt, you know, there was a fellow in the last administration, who was he?  I don't even remember what he was, some Assistant Secretary of Treasury made some comments one day, and all of a sudden the cost of funds went up.

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  Gensler.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Was that Gensler?  Yes.   He was over at the Treasury Department.  These things happen when you're in the debt market.  So at the SEC, they get the equity filing, it's going to be totally different than anything they've ever seen because we are different.  We're a cooperative.  We have this joint and several liability.

	What we do doesn't fit their model, so I think it's probably fair to say that they will have questions, and these things come out into the public.  Maybe we wouldn't be able to do something with the stock, and then all of a sudden it's going to affect the debt.  These are the things that we can't anticipate, but we know that we've seen just the idle remarks of Gary Gensler drive up the cost of debt.  I'm glad you reminded me of his name.  I had hoped I'd forget it.

	[Laughter.]

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  But in any case, so questions from the SEC could be a real problem, and the questions may very well be legitimate because we are unique.  We're a cooperative.  We're not like the other 16,000 companies that they now regulate, and they might ask a question that would be a perfectly reasonable question to ask for an investor-owned company, but we're not one of those, even though we happened to have stock, but our stock is a membership purchase in order to fund the cooperative.  That's part of the uniqueness of the System.

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  So that when before the Chairman asked Dick Swanson about some of the costs that might be entailed if you have SEC registration, that is a potential cost that you see to the System.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Yes, I don't think we're talking about dollar costs in compliance.  We're perfectly willing to fund the dollar costs of compliance, which we think will be reasonable.  We're talking about delay, we're talking about costs we can't anticipate, and we're talking about what happens when you have a two-headed system, and you don't know which side you're talking to so you have to talk to both, and then you're sort of caught in the middle, and I can tell you that that can be a concern.

	I've watched, you know, over the years the other GSEs, the two of them that are regulated by OFHEO, fail, and they managed to sometimes get caught between HUD and OFHEO, and then there's a delay, and both agencies are sort of caught in between.

	I would think in this situation there would be more of that potential.  It's not a malicious thing, it's something that just happens when you have two overseers.

	DIRECTOR LEICHTER:  Thank you.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Other questions, comments?

	Dr. Weicher?

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Going back to Mr. Swanson's testimony, I noticed in the written statement, as you were summing up, you said, on behalf of the shareholders of the Federal Home Loan Banks, but when you spoke you said you spoke for yourself at the end.  You specifically did that.  Earlier, you had said you were speaking for the members of the Seattle Bank or at least the Board representing the members.  Are you able to speak for more than the Seattle Board on this, since there's several, I've forgotten how many institutions that are members overall?

	MR. SWANSON:  There are some 7,000 members overall, and that was a good catch on your part.  As I said earlier, I wrote my testimony hastily and late into the evening the night before Thanksgiving, and realized that, while I think, in fact, from the conversations I've had both with individual shareholders, with our Board of Directors in Seattle, with other System directors at the System-wide meeting and with trade associations, I think that there is quite a bit of alignment with the concerns I have that other shareholders also have, but there's been no process by which I can speak on their behalf.  So I felt that it would be judicious not to attempt to do so.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Are you aware of any members of the System who would disagree with the fundamental thrust of your testimony?

	MR. SWANSON:  I have not heard a member disagree at all.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Let me ask a question which sort of occurred to me in the context of your testimony that really is sort of touched on in everybody's testimony.  As an economist, let me beat the other economist on the Board to the draw on this.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  This is, as you all have said, a very unusual enterprise, in the sense that the value of the stock doesn't fluctuate, which is not something we are used to, and we're not comfortable with systems where prices don't fluctuate.  We're not trained to think about those.  Don't take that as an opinion about anything.

	But thinking that here we have a situation where the price of the stock is fixed, now let there be an increase in the costs of doing business, let there be something which, in other markets, would impinge on the cost of the stock--here, it can't impinge on the cost, but it can impinge on the quantity of stock.  It can make the System less desirable to you, to the other members of the System to participate in and affect the overall level of activity of the System.

	Are any of you aware of any attempts to quantify this effect or look at this?

	MR. SWANSON:  My sense is that the impact on the quantity of the stock in the System would probably be secondary or at least later in time to the impact on the dividend and to the impact on the pricing of products and services.  So, when we as a Board in Seattle look at our expense budget, and we approve our plans, I would say that we're not as conscious of, oh, if we make a change, we're going to cause a runoff in stock.  We're more conscious of how other benefits flow through to our shareholders.

	And that's precisely, that's a really good example of how focusing on investor disclosures, as though you would for a typical stock, misses the point that most of us are thinking about when we do business with this cooperative.  Stock is a par value.  You know, we have some sense of the dividend, but our stock purchase and sale, both purchase and sale, requirements are dictated more by our activity levels at the margin, which is determined by the pricing of advances and pricing of mortgages and that sort of thing.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  So there would be, in our terms, short-run effects on the dividend and on the utilization of Bank System products, and in the long run, an impact on the volume of stock, on the size of the System, fundamentally.

	MR. SWANSON:  I think that's a good analysis.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  But you all haven't really tried to, I mean, this would be a very tough assignment, but it doesn't sound like anyone has really tried to quantify that; am I correct about that?

	MR. SWANSON:  I made an aside about the difficulty of the calculation.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Yes, sure.

	MR. SWANSON:  We, actually, in Seattle, our Board has been working with our staff for a year to see if we could come up with an all-in value calculation for shareholders, and we've had a number of good minds on the Board and on the staff kick that around and, as yet, we have not come up with a good solution, but some of us aren't willing to let the project go all together.  So maybe someday we'll win a Nobel Prize for doing it.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Thank you.

	Let me ask Mr. Roy a question, which I now can't, of course, find in the testimony.  You made a statement that historically the kind of change we're talking about here would have required Congress to act, but you're not saying that we don't have the authority to in this.  Are you referring to a pre-Gramm-Leach-Bliley or pre-FIRREA?

	MR. ROY:  I suspect that's exactly right.  There is some question over the authority of the Finance Board.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  So you were making that--

	MR. ROY:  Greater legal minds than mine have kind of researched and reached that conclusion that there is a question that would need to be resolved in your minds before reaching that conclusion.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Did I miss something in the testimony or anywhere that just discusses that in more detail, that discusses that legal question?

	MR. ROY:  It's in the long-form testimony that's been submitted.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  I may have overlooked that.  I'll take a look.

	Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Any other questions?

	Dr. Mendelowitz?

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Thank you.

	I have to work at coming up with some other questions now.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  That'll teach you to leave.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  The first thing is I have to tell you, gentlemen, quite honestly, that your presentations this afternoon have left me feeling highly uncomfortable, and the reason why is that I am conditioned to feel very uncomfortable when a large number of representatives of a regulated industry come to the regulator to tell them what a wonderful job the regulator is doing.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  It's just that long history in dealing with regulatory issues makes me very uncomfortable when that happens.

	Nevertheless, I have overcome my sense of discomfort, quite honestly, because I found your presentations, collectively, to be extraordinarily valuable contributions to understanding what these issues are that we're trying to address today and how to go about the best way of addressing them, and I mean that very seriously.

	I appreciate the fact that you very, very carefully delineated the difference between disclosure issues and the importance of timely, accurate, and complete disclosure from the issue of how best to effect the disclosure with respect to moving the decks around from an organizational and administrative issue with respect to government agencies.

	So let me see if I can make sure that I really understand sort of the message that's come through here.  If I were to write a Schaum's Outline or Cliff Notes of today's presentation, the first point I would come away with is that no one at this table disagrees with the importance of full, complete and timely disclosure to the investment community; is that correct?

	ALL PRESENTERS:  Yes.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  No one, at this table, if I understand you correctly, believes that there are not always opportunities for improving the quality of disclosure; is that correct?

	ALL PRESENTERS:  Yes.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I want to commend you for, in addition to recognizing that, you made a helpful contribution to our deliberations by not only recognizing that you always have the opportunity to improve disclosure, but to come forward with a proposal on how to go about doing that for the System.  So I think that was great.

	So I think that there is no disagreement over the issue of the importance of disclosure and the potential for improving disclosure and, in fact, how to go about improving disclosure.  So the only thing left on the table is who will oversee the disclosure.  That seems to be the point of debate and the point of discussion, and that actually is a much more complex issue than one might have thought originally.

	The first question is, is there a problem, and I think Mr. Swanson very clearly, if I can summarize what he said, the issue of who should administer the disclosure to him appears to be a solution in search of a problem.  No one seems to think, from those who you've talked to, that there is anything to be gained from changing the administering authority for that disclosure.  Has anyone at the Home Loan Banks themselves thought it would be a good idea or come forward to think that was a good idea to change who the System discloses with?

	ALL PRESENTERS:  No.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Mr. Swanson, because you're the only representative of the members at this point, have you heard anyone claim that there is anything to be gained or that it would be a good idea to move administration of disclosure from the Finance Board to the Securities and Exchange Commission?

	MR. SWANSON:  No, and my experience is, as members start to pay attention to this issue, they become very concerned about moving that jurisdiction.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Third, the capital markets, has anyone heard from major capital market players that there is a need to alter the administering agency for disclosure of the System?

	MR. ROY:  Indeed, the evidence in the marketplace is just the opposite.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  And I can confirm my own casual, empirical observations, I made a round of investment banking houses trying to understand better the issues associated with our System, and I could find no one who thought it was a beneficial idea or a good idea to move administration of the disclosure of the Home Loan Banks from the Finance Board to the SEC.

	So the Banks don't think we should do it, the members don't think we should do it, the capital markets don't think we should do it.  So why are we here?  Why is this issue on the table at all?  That's a question.  Why is this an issue at all?  Does anybody want to enlighten me?

	Is there anybody who thinks it's a good idea?  Is there anybody who has been propounding this?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  Sure.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Who is that?

	MR. SCHULTZ:  As the Chairman said, the administration has proposed that the GSEs register.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  The Treasury Department.  I have to tell you I've been in Washington a long time.  I have tremendous respect for the Treasury Department.  It doesn't matter, administrations come and administrations go, the Treasury Department has consistently had absolutely outstanding officials and absolutely premier and qualified career people.

	The only source, the only power center, the only interest group that appears to think that it is appropriate to move the administration of disclosure from the Finance Board to the SEC is the Treasury Department.

	Now, I've been struggling to try to understand the basis for their belief, based on the merits of the case.  Does anyone have any idea as to what the merits are behind their case?  Can anybody help me understand why the Treasury Department thinks this is something good to do?

	MR. ROY:  The best regime, I think the answer to that that I've heard from Under Secretary Peter Fisher is that the best regime for disclosure is the same regime for disclosure, and that is the SEC, and that's been his statement pretty much right along.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  The best regime is the same regime.

	MR. ROY:  Right.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  And that's the basically essence of the argument.

	MR. ROY:  The short form.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I have to be honest.  I haven't found that argument persuasive.  I haven't found it persuasive for a number of reasons.

	One, I think you've articulated well what the differences in our System are.

	Secondly, as you pointed out, a corollary to the fact that the Finance Board has exercised careful regulation over the Home Loan Banks to ensure their safety and soundness is that investors in the System have been protected.  Now that doesn't mean going forward that nothing could change, and you can't project the future based on the past, but we do have a 70-year track record in which no investor has lost a penny of principal or interest by investing in a Home Loan Bank debt or capital instrument, that's correct.

	So we do have a reasonably good track record here in protecting investors.  Investors, of course, can lose money in investing in any fixed-income instrument because interest rates change, and there is market risk, right?

	Is there anything about disclosure, with respect to financial instruments, anything at all, in any way, shape or form, related to disclosure?  I mean, does the Treasury Department disclosure anything about the fact that if you buy a Treasury bond, interest rates change, you'd lose money?  No.

	So, basically, anybody who invests in a fixed-income instrument, issued by the Treasury Department, by a GSE, by a company, it doesn't matter, runs the risk of losing principal if they don't hold it to maturity or if interest rates change.  That's just a reality of investing in fixed-income markets.

	So there is nothing about market risk that relates to disclosure.  Am I missing anything here?  

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  Go ahead.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  No, I'm asking--you're an economist, too.  I'm asking to make sure, I'm asking you to confirm my analysis, that's all.

	DIRECTOR WEICHER:  As a matter of arithmetic, what you're describing in the bond market, we teach this in principles.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  So, in effect, to the extent to which someone might lose money when they don't hold a fixed-income bond issued by the System to maturity, they're suffering a market risk or an interest rate risk that any investor in a fixed-income asset invests in, and anybody who buys a fixed-income asset understands, hopefully, what the dynamics of the marketplace is, and whether they're buying Treasury bonds or GSE bonds or anybody else's bonds, they face the same risk.

	So we don't have a disclosure issue with respect to that.

	Now, you did articulate a large number of differences between us and corporations for whom the SEC is set up to supervise.  Are the other two housing GSEs--Freddie and Fannie--are they more like publicly traded companies or are they more like the Home Loan Bank System?

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  More like publicly traded companies.  They are publicly--they're not more like, they are publicly traded companies.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  They are publicly traded.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  You can look in the newspaper every day and see the value of the stock.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Absolutely.  Freddie and Fannie may be government-sponsored enterprises, and they may have some special benefits, and I would say, quite honestly, I believe, like the Home Loan Banks, they get a public subsidy because of their GSE status, but they are, in fact, publicly traded companies.  Their boards of directors have a responsibility to assure the -- I'm sorry -- have a fiduciary responsibility to maximize shareholder value, and so that you have this fundamental dynamic at work with Freddie and Fannie that is not that different from the dynamic that is at work with respect to protecting shareholders in any publicly traded company, notwithstanding their GSE status.

	So I think, probably, you can make a righteous case that Freddie and Fannie should be registering with the Securities and Exchange Commission simply because they have publicly traded stock that behaves like every other publicly traded stock.

	Now, the regulator of Freddie and Fannie is OFHEO, the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight.  Now, they have the responsibility for ensuring the safety and soundness of Freddie and Fannie, right?  And they were overseeing the disclosure associated with Freddie and Fannie, right?

	But I understand now there's an agreement by which Freddie and Fannie have to register with the Securities and Exchange Commission their stock, not their debt, and not their MBS, but their stock, right?

	Did OFHEO have anything to do with that agreement or that arrangement?  No.  You're shaking your head no.

	So that, even though Freddie and Fannie are much closer to a publicly traded company that appropriately is regulated by the SEC, their regulator did not send them to the SEC in order to have the SEC take over disclosure.  Freddie and Fannie went voluntarily to the SEC and reached an agreement with the SEC under which they would register voluntarily under the 1935 act, right?

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  Right.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Now, if you gentlemen had come to me and said that you want to go to the SEC on your own and voluntarily register with the SEC, my reaction would have been that's your right. I don't care, but that's not the issue on the table here.

	The issue on the table here is do we, as the regulator, and the safety and soundness regulator, and the mission regulator, and the financial disclosure regulator of the Home Loan Bank System, is it appropriate and legal for us to tell you that you have to go to the SEC and register?

	And this goes back to the first question that Mr. Swanson raised.  What is the problem that this would fix?  No one has identified a problem that I find convincing, that I can put my teeth in, that I can understand.  So I'm left with what is the problem and what is the legal basis for doing it?

	Dick, you're a lawyer, and you know something about securities law.  Does the Finance Board have the legal authority to transfer a responsibility that we have established in law to another agency?

	MR. SWANSON:  Well, you have to ask your counsel that.  My understanding of both the statutes under which the Finance Board was created, and its predecessors, and the kind of legislative history of statutes that have been enacted since that time make it fairly clear to me that that responsibility is lodged with the Finance Board, and I'm not aware of any congressional effort to change that statutory framework.  I'm not aware of any court decision that would affect jurisdiction.

	So, while I can't give you that legal opinion because I haven't done the research, I'm not aware that that authority exists.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I spent 20 years working for the Congress, and what I learned working for the Congress was the Congress is very, very jealous of its legislative prerogatives, that if the Congress passes a law and the President signs it, and that statute, I mean, that legislation becomes law, the Congress expects those things that they've outlined in that law to take place and to be executed faithfully per them.

	The Congress over the past 15 years has had numerous times to revisit the Home Loan Bank System statutorily. There was FIRREA, there was Gramm-Leach-Bliley, there was Sarbanes-Oxley.  We have a long history over the past 15 years in which the Congress has dealt statutorily with legal issues surrounding capital markets and financial disclosure.

	Did the Congress ever consider taking the disclosure responsibility away from the Home Loan Banks and giving it to the SEC?  Did they ever consider that explicitly?

	MR. ROY:  Yes.

	DIRECTOR O'NEILL:  Right, and it's in the long version of the testimony that--

	MR. ROY:  And after discussion, it was removed.

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  That's right.  The Congress, two years ago or three years ago, they explicitly considered whether it was appropriate to take the disclosure responsibility away from the Finance Board, with respect to Home Loan Banks, and give it to the SEC, and the Congress decided deliberately to reject that change, and so I would take that as a pretty strong congressional statement that what the Congress expects the Finance Board to do is to do the best job possible in managing and overseeing the disclosure of the Home Loan Bank System, rather than giving it to another agency.  That's a pretty definitive action.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Was there a question there?

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Last question, and I use the term broadly.

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I have to tell you I'm someone who believes that capital markets, left to their own devices, without appropriate oversight by the government, will not be a place and are not a place where I would want to put my capital.  Really sound and effective regulation by the SEC is essential to good functioning of the capital markets.

	As President DelliBovi pointed out, based on review of an article in yesterday's New York Times, the SEC is currently just about at the nadir of its history in terms of its effectiveness.  If I can quote Steven Labaton, the reporter who wrote the article, it's entitled, "SEC Facing Deeper Trouble," he points out that "the SEC is plagued by problems that go deeper than its leadership difficulties and have undermined its ability to police companies, and markets, government officials and corporate law, experts say."

	They go on to say that "the Commission is struggling to maintain its role as a protector of investors against abuses in the marketplace.  Its Corporate Finance Department cannot keep up with the deluge of company filings."  The Agency's Corporate Finance Division, which for years never examined in detail the filings of the thousands of companies, including Enron, remains unable to analyze a majority of the 15,000 filings by corporations each year.  In some cases, according to officials, reviewers have just one day to examine as many as six corporate annual reports to see if they are problematic.

	So we not only have the issue of is there anything to be gained by moving the administration of disclosure to the SEC, we also have the issue of effectiveness of supervision of that disclosure. Based on the characterization of the problems at the SEC, do you actually think the SEC has the capability of doing a good job?

	MR. ROY:  Do you want the answer on a count of three or--

	[Laughter.]

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  Well, do you think they can do it?  And let me ask another question.  What is the opportunity cost of adding to an already overly burdened organization the responsibility for supervising the disclosure of a whole new system about which it knows very little to begin with and lacks the familiarity of the details of the system to effectively do the job without a lot of work?

	So the question is have I missed anything as to why it would be a good idea to move disclosure from the Finance Board to the SEC?

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Thank you, Dr. Mendelowitz for your testimony.  Thank you very much.

	[Laughter.]

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I don't want to belabor any points because I think we could probably do that for a long time, but there is one question I wanted to ask, and it isn't directly relevant to today's topic, frankly, but by virtue of the fact that it came up in several of the statements that were made today, both in Mr. Swanson's testimony and Mr. DelliBovi's testimony.

	I think it also came through in the written views that were shared with us by the three banking trade associations.  Each of those testimonies included the nearly identical phrase, holding that the Banks are required by law to jointly fund their business by issuing consolidated obligations.

	I was under the impression that is not the state of play in the wake of Gramm-Leach-Bliley, and I was looking here, and that's why I asked to bring in the copy of the Act that talks about each Federal Home Loan Bank shall have power, et cetera, et cetera, and it goes on to say, in Section B, "the Board may issue consolidated obligations, which shall be the joint and several obligations for all of the Federal Home Loan Banks."

	Was there a misstatement in the testimony or am I reading the statute differently than the Banks?

	MR. ROY:  Well, I think the point is that Federal regulation carries the weight of law.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  Correct.

	MR. ROY:  And it is Federal regulation.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  That each of the Banks may not issue separate?

	MR. ROY:  Separate.  That's the way it is.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I'll have to relook at that because that's different than the assumption I was making.

	MR. SCHULTZ:  I think, actually, it's that the Office of Finance must issue joint.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  They must issue joint, but each of the Banks may issue.

	MR. ROY:  With your consent.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  With our consent.

	MR. ROY:  Without your consent, we can't do it.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  That clarifies it.

	MR. DELLIBOVI:  But, Mr. Chairman, if I may inject, since we don't want to inadvertently have a Gary Gensler comment come out of here, it's exactly these kinds of things, you know, I mean, if the markets were to hear that we were even thinking about that, you could have consequences that we wouldn't want to experience, and that's the thing.

	The joint issuing gives great comfort to the markets, and we believe it's one of the reasons that we get the price execution that we get.

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  That's correct, but I think that's also why we have to be very careful about how we characterize the fact that the joint and several liability exists among and between the members of the System.

	I guess I don't have any other questions.  Are there any other questions that any other members of the Board may have, any other statements?  Allan, did you have any other--

	DIRECTOR MENDELOWITZ:  I'm working hard on a question.

	[Laughter.]

	CHAIRMAN KORSMO:  I just wanted to maybe throw in, by way of close, something that I included in my opening statement, and that is, and I appreciate Director Mendelowitz's comments and the comments that came from those who appeared here today, about the interests of the investors and the interests of the bond holders, but I think it's important to keep in mind that there is another interested party in this, and that is the members of the public who do not necessarily have the same vehicles available for them to understand the nature of the obligation that they are underwriting.

	And while Fannie and Freddie Mac are, indeed, different entities and different creatures, as I mentioned, they do share on element with the Federal Home Loan Bank System; that being that they are government-sponsored enterprises that at some level are responsible to the public, and I think that's an important point to keep in mind as we proceed with this whole discussion and the contemplation of what exactly enhanced disclosure may or may not mean for the Federal Home Loan Bank System.

	Again, Dick, thank you, Al, Jay, Dean.  We appreciate very much your input.  Obviously, this is an ongoing discussion.  We have advanced the ball today, but we are nowhere near the goal line.  We are struggling, at best, to make it to mid field.  I think this is a process that will continue.  I hope it will continue with alacrity.  We are looking forward to taking a look at EDI, if I may be so bold as to label it in that manner, and continuing the process of working together to serve who I think we all appreciate is our master in this case, and that is the taxpayers of the United States of America.

	Again, thank you very much to our testifiers.  Thank you to my colleagues on the Board, and the hearing is adjourned.

	Thank you very much.

	[Whereupon, at 4:13 p.m., the proceedings were adjourned.]
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